

# UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA CAMPUS ARARANGUÁ CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS, TECNOLOGIA E SAÚDE CURSO DE MEDICINA

João Vitor Rodrigues

Associação entre características individuais e contextuais com a prevalência de multimorbidade em idosos: evidências de uma pesquisa nacional

João Vitor Rodrigues				
Associação entre características individ	duais e contextuais com a prevalência			
de multimorbidade em idosos: evi				
M S C	Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso de Graduação em Medicina do Centro de Ciências, Tecnologia e Saúde da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina omo requisito para a obtenção do título de Bacharel em Medicina.			
	Orientadora: Profa. Maruí Weber Corseuil Giehl, Ora.			
Araranguá 2023				

# Ficha de identificação da obra elaborada pelo autor, através do Programa de Geração Automática da Biblioteca Universitária da UFSC.

Rodrigues, João Vitor

Associação entre características individuais e contextuais com a prevalência de multimorbidade em idosos : evidências de uma pesquisa nacional / João Vitor Rodrigues ; orientador, Maruí Weber Corseuil Giehl, 2023.

50 p.

Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso (graduação) - Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Campus Araranguá, Graduação em Medicina, Araranguá, 2023.

Inclui referências.

1. Medicina. 2. Medicina. 3. Idosos. 4. Multimorbidade. 5. Brasil. I. Giehl, Maruí Weber Corseuil. II. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. Graduação em Medicina. III. Título.

#### João Vitor Rodrigues

# Associação entre características individuais e contextuais com a prevalência de multimorbidade em idosos: evidências de uma pesquisa nacional

Este Trabalho de Conclusão de Curso foi julgado adequado para obtenção do título de "Bacharel em Medicina" e aprovado em sua forma final pelo Curso de Graduação em Medicina do Centro de Ciências, Tecnologias e Saúde da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

Araranguá, 30 de junho de 2023.
Profa. Ana Carolina Lobor Cancelier, Dra. Coordenação do Curso
Banca examinadora
Profa. Maruí Weber Corseuil Giehl, Dra.
Orientadora
Prof. Gabriel Hahn Monteiro Lufchitz, Me.
Instituição UFSC
Profa. Simone Farías Antúnez Reis, Dra. Instituição UFSC
Araranguá, 2023.
s



#### **AGRADECIMENTOS**

Primeiramente, agradeço a Deus, fonte de toda sabedoria e força que me acompanharam ao longo desta jornada. Agradeço por me conceder discernimento e por me sustentar em momentos de desafio.

Agradeço também à minha orientadora, Dra. Maruí Weber Corseuil Giehl, com quem contei com apoio e dedicação imensuráveis ao longo do desenvolvimento deste trabalho. Sou imensamente grato por toda a inspiração, paciência e confiança que depositou em mim.

Aos meus amados familiares, em especial aos meus pais Zélia e Marcelo, meu agradecimento mais profundo. Vocês foram meu alicerce em todas as etapas da minha caminhada. Obrigado por todo o apoio, sacrifícios e encorajamento constantes. Este trabalho é dedicado a vocês, pois são a razão pela qual sou quem sou.

Finalmente, agradeço aos meus queridos amigos que, desde que nossos caminhos se cruzaram, sempre estiveram ao meu lado, compartilhando risadas, desafios e momentos de descontração, tornando essa jornada acadêmica mais leve e, com certeza, mais prazerosa. Vocês são parte fundamental da minha jornada.

#### **RESUMO**

Introdução: Nas últimas décadas, a população global de idosos (indivíduos com 60 anos de idade ou mais) tem crescido significativamente. No entanto, é importante ressaltar que uma sociedade com maior expectativa de vida não implica necessariamente em um contexto que proporcione envelhecimento saudável e livre de acometimento por múltiplas doenças crônicas não transmissíveis. Objetivo: estimar a prevalência de multimorbidade na população idosa brasileira e analisar sua associação com os fatores socioeconômicos individuais e contextuais. Métodos: Trata-se de um estudo observacional do tipo transversal com dados provenientes da segunda edição da Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde, realizada em 2019. Foram utilizadas as informações dos indivíduos de 60 anos ou mais de ambos os sexos, que responderam ao questionário individual, totalizando 22.728 indivíduos na amostra final. O ponto de corte para definir a multimorbidade foi de ≥2 doenças crônicas. Resultados: Os fatores individuais associados com uma maior chance de multimorbidade na população idosa foram: sexo feminino, idade avançada, estar casado, poucos anos de estudo, inatividade física e não-tabagismo. Foi observado que, entre os idosos que vivem em áreas com IDH elevado, a chance de multimorbidade foi 24% maior. Conclusão: Os achados indicam que idosos residentes em áreas mais desenvolvidas têm mais chance de serem diagnosticado com múltiplas doenças crônicas não transmissíveis. Por esse motivo, mesmo com níveis elevados de diagnóstico médico, se faz necessário que políticas de prevenção primária sejam implementadas nestes locais para garantir a qualidade de vida da população idosa residente.

Palavras-chave: Idoso; Multimorbidade; Doença Crônica; Ambiente Social.

#### **ABSTRACT**

**Introduction**: In recent years, a significant increase in the global elderly population (individuals aged 60 years or older) can be noticed. However, it is important to emphasize that a society with a longer life expectancy does not necessarily mean a context that provides healthy aging or free multiple non-communicable chronic diseases ambient. Objective: To estimate the frequency of multimorbidity in the Brazilian elderly population and measure its association with individual and contextual socioeconomic factors in the urban context. Methods: This is an observational crosssectional study that uses data from the second edition of the Brazilian National Health Survey conducted in 2019. Information from individuals aged 60 years and older of both sexes who responded to the individual questionnaire was used, totaling 22,728 individuals in the final sample. The cutoff point to define multimorbidity was ≥2 chronic diseases. Results: The individual factors associated with higher odds of multimorbidity in the elderly population were: female gender, older age, being married, less years of education, physical inactivity, and non-smoking. It was observed that among older adults living in areas with high HDI, the odds of multimorbidity were 24% higher. **Conclusion**: The findings indicate that elderly individuals residing in more developed areas have higher odds of being diagnosed with multiple chronic non-communicable diseases. Therefore, even with high levels of medical diagnosis, it is necessary to implement primary prevention policies in these locations to ensure the quality of life for the resident elderly population.

**Keywords**: Aged; Multimorbidity; Chronic disease; Social Environment.

### **LISTA DE TABELAS**

Tabela 1 - Sociodemographic and economic characteristics of Brazilian elderly.
National Health Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 22728)23
Tabela 2 - Individual prevalence of morbidities in Brazilian elderly. National Health
Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 21725)24
Tabela 3 - Prevalence of multimorbidity according to individual characteristics and
context in Brazilian elderly. National Health Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 21725)25
Tabela 4 - Association between characteristics of the context (MHDI) and
multimorbidity in elderly residents of Brazilian Federation Units. National Health Survey
Brazil, 2019

#### LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

95%CI 95% Confidence Intervals

AIC Akaike's Information Criteria

BIC Bayesian Information Criteria

FU Federation Units

HDI Human Development Index

ICC Intraclass Correlation

MHDI Municipal Human Development Index

MW Minimum Wage

NCD Noncommunicable diseases

OR Odds Ratio

PNS Brazilian National Health Survey

PR Prevalence Ratio

PSU Primary Sample Units

SD Standard Deviation

STROBE Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology

WHO World Health Organization

## SUMÁRIO

1	ARTIGO	16
1.1	INTRODUCTION	17
1.2	METHODS	19
1.2.1	Outcome Variable	19
1.2.2	Exploratory variables at the individual level	20
1.2.3	Contextual exploratory variables	21
1.2.4	Data analysis	21
1.3	RESULTS	22
1.4	DISCUSSION	27
1.5	CONCLUSIONS	31
2	CONCLUSÕES E CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	39
	REFERÊNCIAS	40
	ANEXO A - NORMAS DA REVISTA HEALTH AND PLACE	44

1 **ARTIGO** 

Individual and contextual socioeconomic status factors associated with

prevalence of multimorbidity among Brazilian older population: evidence from a

national survey

João Vitor Rodrigues<sup>1</sup>

Simone Farías Antúnez Reis<sup>2</sup>

Maruí Weber Corseuil Giehl<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Medicina. Centro de Ciências, Tecnologias e Saúde. Campus Araranguá.

Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina.

<sup>2</sup>Departamento de Ciência da Saúde. Centro de Ciências, Tecnologias e Saúde.

Campus Araranguá. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina.

<sup>3</sup>Departamento de Ciência da Saúde. Centro de Ciências, Tecnologias e Saúde.

Campus Araranguá. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. Programa de Pós-

graduação em Saúde Coletiva. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina.

Corresponding author

João Vitor Rodrigues

Rodovia Governador Jorge Lacerda, 3201, Jardim das Avenidas. Araranguá. SC

joao.vitor.rodrigues@grad.ufsc.br

**Highlights** 

Approximately 3 out of 5 elderly Brazilians present multimorbidity.

Living in more developed areas leads to greater odds of multimorbidity.

Promoting more directed policies of primary prevention is needed in Brazil.

Funding: This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the

public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

**Declaration of interest:** none

#### **ABSTRACT**

This cross-sectional study aimed to investigate the prevalence of multimorbidity in Brazilian elderly and its association with individual and contextual factors with data from 2019 National Health Survey. Individual factors associated with greater odds of multimorbidity were: female gender, advanced age, being married, lower educational level, physical inactivity, and non-smoking status. It was observed that among elderly living in more developed areas, the odds of multimorbidity were 24% higher. These findings imply that despite the presence of enhanced diagnostic and treatment resources in more developed areas, there remains a need for preventive programs to promote healthier aging.

KEYWORDS: Aged. Multimorbidity. Chronic disease. Social Environment.

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

In recent years, a significant increase in the global elderly population (individuals aged 60 years or older) can be noticed. According to global estimates, the number of older individuals is projected to double by 2050, reaching approximately 2 billion individuals. It is noteworthy that about four out of five of these will live in middle-income countries (World Health Organization, 2015). In Brazil, this process has been even more accentuated, with estimates indicating that the proportion will increase from the actual 11.7% to 29.3% of the population by 2050 (United Nations and Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2015). The aging process of the Brazilian population began in the 1960s, driven by increased life expectancy and improved basic health conditions (Camargos et al., 2019), despite significant inequalities, mainly in the environmental and socioeconomic contexts, which are inherent to the different geographic regions of the country (Ramos et al., 1987).

However, it is important to emphasize that a society with a longer life expectancy does not necessarily represent a context that provides healthy aging or free of multiple non-communicable chronic diseases (NCD). Age is a fundamental factor in this scope, since the prevalence of health problems tends to increase, in addition to getting worse with advancing age and, therefore, multimorbidity (2 or more simultaneous NCD) becomes progressively more present and impacts the quality of life (Zimmer and Amornsirisomboon, 2001).

According to World Health Organization (WHO) (2015), the health level of the elderly is directly influenced by three main factors: the individual's intrinsic capacity (both mental and physical); the characteristics of the surrounding environment, and the interaction between them.

It is widely acknowledged that the factors related to the place where the elder lived reflect the position of these individuals in society and are influenced by historical and social construction, which results in inequalities. Contextual factors affect health events, regardless of individual characteristics, in addition to being able to modify how individual characteristics influence the health of populations (Díaz-Perera et al., 2013). Socioeconomic status is the reflection of a macrostructure that is responsible for determining the economic and political characteristics, the general living conditions of the population, and the basic principles of social organization (Santos et al., 2010).

With regard to individual characteristics, prior research has shown that women are more susceptible to multimorbidity when compared to men, possibly due to inherent biological and hormonal differences (Violan et al., 2014). Furthermore, unhealthy lifestyle habits including obesity, physical inactivity, and excessive alcohol consumption were also associated with a higher risk of multimorbidity development (France et al., 2012; Mounce et al., 2018).

The presence of multimorbidity is correlated with other factors that negatively affect the quality of life, such as physical and mental disabilities, premature mortality, and greater relative use of health system resources (Costa et al., 2012). Caring for individuals with multimorbidity is complex and costly both for the health system and for the patient and his family when compared to those who have only one NCD (Sallis et al., 2008).

Given this scenario, when considering the challenges arising from the rapid demographic and epidemiological transition that has occurred in recent years, in addition to fact that health and lifestyle habits are not randomly distributed among regions and populations, understanding the occurrence and patterns of multimorbidity in the country may be relevant for the management of financial and human resources in the nationwide Unified Health System.

In this sense, identifying and understanding contextual and individual differences around the prevalence of multimorbidity helps policymakers to prioritize and promote health actions and interventions related to the management of multimorbidity (Nunes et al., 2017).

Thus, the aim of the present study was to investigate the prevalence of multimorbidity in Brazilian elderly and its association with individual and contextual socioeconomic factors in urban context based on data from the 2019 National Health Survey (Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde [PNS]).

#### 1.2 METHODS

A cross-sectional observational study was conducted, following the steps recommended by the STROBE protocol (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology). The data used was derived from the second edition of the PNS, carried out in 2019 by *Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística* in partnership with the Ministry of Health.

The 2019 PNS is a population-based survey with individuals aged 15 or over, living in permanent private households in Brazil (Stopa et al., 2020). The population located in special census tracts were excluded from the research sample, namely: subnormal clusters; barracks, military bases, etc.; accommodation, camps, etc.; vessels, boats, ships, etc.; indigenous villages; penitentiaries, penal colonies, prisons, jails, etc.; asylums, orphanages, convents, hospitals, etc.; and rural settlements (Souza-Júnior et al., 2015; Stopa et al., 2020).

The 2019 PNS sample consisted of conglomerates in three stages of selection: (1) selection of primary sample units (PSU) consisting of census tracts or sets of sectors; (2) selection of households in each census tract drawn; (3) and finally, in the third stage, in each household, a resident aged 15 years or older was randomly selected by simple random sampling (Souza-Júnior et al., 2015; Stopa et al., 2020).

The sampled total of PSU was 8,036; that of households was 108,525, with a final sample of 94,114 with interviews carried out. The non-response rate was 6.4% (Stopa et al., 2020).

In the present study, information was used from individuals aged 60 or over of both sexes, who answered the individual questionnaire for the selected resident, thus, the final sample of this study was 22,728 individuals. More information on the 2019 PNS methodology can be accessed in a previous publication (Stopa et al., 2020).

#### 1.2.1 Outcome Variable

The outcome variable was multimorbidity, which was evaluated considering 14 morbidities within the list questioned in the survey. Of these, 11 morbidities were

identified in the "Module Q - Chronic Diseases" through the following question: "Has a doctor ever diagnosed you with...". Such diseases are high blood pressure; diabetes; hypercholesterolemia; heart problems; cerebrovascular accidents; asthma; arthritis or rheumatism; work-related muscle-skeletal disorders; lung diseases; chronic kidney disease and cancer. Among women, episodes of hypertension and diabetes during pregnancy were excluded.

In cases of depression or other mental illnesses, the question was: "Has any doctor or mental health professional (psychiatrist or psychologist) ever diagnosed you with...". To identify spinal column problems, the question was: "Do you have any chronic spinal column problems, such as chronic back or neck pain, low back pain, sciatica, vertebrae, or disc problems?" As suggested by WHO (2016), the cutoff point to define multimorbidity was ≥2 chronic diseases.

#### 1.2.2 Exploratory variables at the individual level

To analyze the associations between the outcome and individual exposure variables in the present study, studies in the literature (Bento, 2020; Francisco et al., 2018; Freedman et al., 2011) that identified complexity of the variables associated with the presence of multimorbidity in elderly were considered, and the most frequently associated were sociodemographic characteristics (age and sex), precarious socioeconomic conditions, unhealthy lifestyle, among others (Andrade et al., 2022; Carvalho et al., 2017; Jantsch et al., 2018; Pabayo et al., 2015).

Thus, the variables investigated in this research are presented below. The sociodemographic variables measured included gender (male and female); age range (60 to 69, 70 to 79, and 80 years or older), race/skin color (white and black/brown); education (no education, or incomplete primary education: 0-8 years; complete primary or incomplete secondary: 8-12 years; complete secondary or incomplete higher education: ≥12 years; complete higher education); per capita family income, classified in minimum wages (MW), considering the MW to be approximately US\$253 in 2019 (up to 1 MW: US\$0-US\$253, more than 1 to 3 MW: US\$253-US\$759, more than 3 MW: ≥US\$759); marital status (married, divorced/single or widowed).

The selected health-related behaviors were: sufficient leisure-time physical activity (yes and no). Those who performed 150 weekly minutes of exercises with light or moderate intensity, or 75 minutes weekly of vigorous intensity, regardless of the number of days of practice per week were considered active (Bull et al., 2020); current

smoker (yes and no); excessive alcohol consumption, which is defined as the weekly consumption of 15 or more alcoholic drinks for men and 8 or more for women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022).

#### 1.2.3 Contextual exploratory variables

To assess the contextual level, considered as aggregation by Federation Units (FU), the Municipal Human Development Index (MHDI) was used, made available by the Atlas of Human Development in Brazil (United Nations Development Programme, 2021). The data were incorporated into the PNS database to carry out the analyses. The Brazilian FU were chosen because they represent the maximum level of aggregation that the PNS data allowed, maintaining the entire sample.

The MHDI is a summary measure of long-term progress, considering three basic components related to human development (education, income, and longevity), and ranges from 0 to 1, with higher values indicating better human development in the municipality (United Nations Development Programme, 2021). This index represents a methodological adjustment to the Human Development Index (HDI), considering the same three dimensions: health, education, and income, but adapting to the availability of national indicators. In this study, the 2021 MHDI – the last available update of the index – of the 27 FU in Brazil was considered, and calculated by extracting a geometric mean: the cube root of the multiplication of the HDI longevity, HDI education, and HDI income, considering the database of the Continuous National Household Sample Survey (Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada, 2022). For this calculation, the three components have the same weight. The MHDI was categorized according to its tertiles, meaning that the first tertile corresponds to the FU that present the lowest MHDI and the third tertile to the highest.

#### 1.2.4 Data analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated for individual and contextual variables. Multilevel Logistic Regression with random intercepts was fitted to investigate the association between multimorbidity and contextual characteristics, represented by the FU MHDI, with the individuals as the first level and the FU of residence as the second level. The empty model was tested (with random intercept and without covariates) to estimate the proportion of the total variance of multimorbidity that can be attributed to

the differences between the FU context (MHDI) (level 2). The effects of level 2 (FU) on the outcome were determined by calculating the intraclass correlation (ICC). Second, mixed-effects multilevel models were created. The variables were gradually included in the multivariable regression models (Victora et al., 1997), which were three in total. First, unadjusted associations of multimorbidity and MHDI were tested (Model 1). Second, demographic variables (sex, age, and marital status) were included, followed by socioeconomic (schooling), and lifestyle and health status variables (leisure time physical activity and smoking status) (Model 2), to analyze the association among individual characteristics and the outcome. Following, the final adjusted model was performed, in which the association of outcome and contextual factor were tested controlling for the individual variables (Model 3). All analyses were performed in Stata 14.0 software, and sample weightings and sampling design were taken into account in all analyses. Results are expressed as odds ratios (OR) or prevalence ratios (PR) with their respective 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) and p-values <0.05 were considered indicative of statistical significance.

The PNS was approved by the National Research Ethics Commission (process No. 3.529.376, of August 23, 2019). All respondents signed a free and informed consent statement form. The PNS 2019 database and questionnaire modules are available for public access and use on the survey website (https://www.pns.icict.fiocruz.br).

#### 1.3 RESULTS

The final sample of the study comprised 22,728 elderly people. The overall prevalence of multimorbidity among the elderly was 58.12% (95%Cl 57.00-59.23). The FU where older adults had the highest prevalence of multimorbidity were Rio Grande do Sul (63.50%), Minas Gerais (60.33%), and Goiás (59.85%) (p< 0.001) (data not shown). Table 1 presents the individual and contextual characteristics of the participants, considering the sample weights. Most of the sample consisted of women (56.68%) and self-declared white individuals (51.45%). The mean age was 70.05 years (SD=8.08), ranging from 60 to 112 completed years. Approximately half of the respondents were married. As for education, most of elderly had no education or had only completed elementary school (63.27%), while 11.30% had completed higher education. The per capita household income of 42.67% of the studied population was between 1 and 3 MW. As for healthy behaviors, approximately 4 out of 5 seniors were

classified as physically inactive in their leisure time, 88.56% denied current smoking, and alcohol consumption was considered normal in about half of the sample.

Tabela 1 – Sociodemographic and economic characteristics of Brazilian elderly.

National Health Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 22728).

National Health Survey E	3razii, 2019 (		
Variables	n	(%)	95%CI
Individual Level	00=00		
Sex	22728		
Male	10193	43.32	42.25, 44.39
Female	12535	56.68	55.60, 57.74
Age range (in years)	22728		
60-69	12555	56.30	55.21, 57.39
70-79	7157	30.14	29.17, 31.13
≥80	3016	13.56	18.82, 14.33
Ethnicity	22357		
White	9901	51.45	50.27, 52.61
Brown/black	12456	48.55	47.38, 49.72
Marital status	22728		
Married	9946	50.65	49.55, 51.76
Divorced/single	6698	24.30	23.40, 25.22
Widower	6084	25.05	24.14, 25.99
Education level	22728		
No education/incomplete primary	14987	63.27	62.09, 64.44
education			
Complete primary/incomplete	2011	9.53	8.88, 10.21
secondary education			·
Complete secondary/incomplete higher	3322	15.90	15.05, 16.78
education			•
Complete higher education	2408	11.30	10.52, 12.13
Per capita family income (in MW)	22725		, , , , , , , , ,
≤1	10250	41.73	40.56, 42,92
1-3	8904	42.67	41.55, 43.79
≥ 3	3571	15.60	14.68, 16,55
Leisure physical activity	22728	.0.00	
Insufficiently active	18517	80.54	79.60, 81.44
Physically active	4211	19.46	18.56, 20.40
Current smoking	22728	10.10	10.00, 20.10
Yes	2680	11.44	10.76, 12.14
No	20048	88.56	87.86, 89.23
Alcohol consumption	3755	00.50	07.00, 03.23
Normal	3119	83.97	81.84, 85.82
High	636	16.03	14.18, 18.06
Multimorbidity	21725	10.03	17.10, 10.00
< 2 NCD	9682	41.88	40.77, 43.00
< 2 NCD ≥ 2 NCD	12043	58.12	57.00, 59.23
	12043	30.12	57.00, 59.23
Contextual Level MHDI tertile	22720		
	22728	22.04	22.45.24.60
1 (lower)	7703	23.91	23.15, 24.69
2 (middle)	7359	26.89	26.10, 27.70

3 (higher) 7666 49.20 48.18, 50.22

Fonte: elaborado pelos autores

Legenda: 95CI%: 95% confidence interval; MHDI: Municipal Human Development Index; MW: minimal

wages; NCD: Noncommunicable Diseases

The mean number of simultaneous morbidities was 3.13 (SD=1.30). The most reported morbidities were high blood pressure (56.42%), spinal column problems (31.06%), and hypercholesterolemia (27.97%) (Table 2). Table 3 describes the prevalence of the outcome according to the individual characteristics and context of the participants. The following were associated with a higher prevalence of multimorbidity: female gender, age greater than 70 years, widowhood, few or no years of study, low income, physical inactivity, and non-smoking. No significant associations were found with alcohol consumption or skin color. As for the contextual characteristics, represented by the MHDI, it was observed that there was a higher prevalence of the outcome in those elderly individuals who lived in FU with higher MHDI tertiles.

Tabela 2 – Individual prevalence of morbidities in Brazilian elderly. National Health Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 21725).

95%CI Noncommunicable Disease (%) 55.35, 57.48 High blood pressure 56.42 Spinal column problem 29.97, 32.18 31.06 Hypercholesterolemia 27.97 26.92, 29.04 19.95, 21.75 Diabetes 20.84 Arthritis/rheumatism 18.17 17.24, 19.12 Heart problem 13.15 12.41, 13.92 Depression 11.82 11.10, 15.57 Cancer 6.78 6.23, 7.38 Cerebrovascular accident 5.60 5.14, 6.10 4.21, 5.20 Other mental diseases 4.68 Asthma 4.56 4.10, 5.06 Other lung diseases 2.90 2.50, 3.36 Chronic kidney disease 2.23, 2.92 2.55 Work-related muscle-skeletal disorder 2.21 1.83, 2.66

Fonte: elaborado pelos autores

Legenda: 95%CI: 95% confidence interval

Table 4 shows the results of the multilevel analysis. Significant variability in multimorbidity was found between Brazilian FU in the null model (Model 1), so the variation explained by the difference between FU for the outcome was approximately 1.0% (ICC=0.007, p<0.001). A positive association was identified between multimorbidity and the MHDI of the FU. There was a reduction in the intraclass

correlation value when the contextual variable was inserted into the model. There were subsequent minor changes in this measure when the model with only individual variables was analyzed (Model 2) and the final model (Model 3), where individual and contextual variables were considered.

Tabela 3 – Prevalence of multimorbidity according to individual characteristics and context in Brazilian elderly. National Health Survey Brazil, 2019 (n= 21725).

Variables	Prevalence of	p-
	multimorbidity% (95%CI)	value*
Individual Level	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
Sex		0.00
Male	49.06 (47.42, 50.70)	
Female	64.86 (63.37, 66.31)	
Age range (in years)	, ,	0.00
60-69	55.42 (53.91, 56.92)	
70-79	61.66 (59.76, 63.52)	
≥80	61.48 (58.57, 64,31)	
Ethnicity	- (,	0.9930
White	58.00 (56.39, 59.58)	
Brown/black	57.99 (56.43, 59.53)	
Marital status	( , ,	0.00
Married	56.72 (55.15, 58.27)	
Divorced/single	55.66 (53.53, 57.78)	
Widower	63.30 (61.19, 65.35)	
Education level	(3.1.3, 33.33)	0.00
No education/incomplete primary	60.15 (58.81, 61.48)	
education	(551.5)	
Complete primary/incomplete	55.70 (52.20, 59.15)	
secondary education	(====, ====,	
Complete secondary/incomplete	55.72 (52.94, 58.47)	
higher education	(======================================	
Complete higher education	52.47 (49.02, 55.90)	
Per capita family income (in MW)	( , ,	0.0234
≤1	58.87 (57.19, 60.53)	
1-3	58.71 (56.99, 60.41)	
≥ 3	54.56 (51.68, 57.41)	
Leisure physical activity	(3.133, 3.111)	0.0012
Insufficiently active	59.07 (57.82, 60.32)	0.00.
Physically active	54.25 (51.62, 56.86)	
Current smoking	0 1120 (0 1102)	0.00
Yes	49.59 (46.33, 52.85)	0.00
No	59.16 (57.99, 60.33)	
Alcohol consumption	331.3 (37.333, 33.33)	0.5972
Normal	49.88 (46.94, 52.83)	0.00.2
High	47.84 (40.85, 54.91)	
Contextual Level		0.00
MHDI tertile		0.00
1 (lower)	54.85 (52.79, 56.89)	
. ()	0 1.00 (02.70, 00.00)	

2 (middle)	55.79 (54.06, 57.51)
3 (higher)	60.93 (59.13, 62.70)

Fonte: elaborado pelos autores

Legenda: \* p<0,001;

\*\*p<0,05;

95CI%: 95% confidence interval; MHDI: Municipal Human Development Index; MW: minimal wage;

Finally, considering the final multilevel model (Model 3), the individual variables associated with greater odds of multimorbidity in the elderly population were: female gender (OR: 2.01, 95%CI 1.89 – 2.13) and older age (OR: 1.25, 95%CI 1.18 – 1.33 and PR: 1.14, 95%CI 1.05 – 1.25). On the other hand, the odds of multimorbidity were lower in those individuals who were single or divorced (OR: 0.85, 95%CI 0.79 – 0.91), in those with more education (OR: 0.86, 95%CI 0.78 – 0.95; PR: 0.91, 95%CI 0.85 – 0.99 and PR: 0.88, 95%CI 0.81 – 0.97), in physically active elderly (OR: 0.92, 95%CI 0.86 – 0.99) and in smokers (OR: 0.73, 95%CI 0.66 – 0.80). As regard the association between contextual variables and multimorbidity, it was observed that among elderly who lived in the upper terciles of MHDI, the odds of multimorbidity were 24% higher (95%CI 1.07-1.44) when compared to those who lived in FU with lower MHDI.

When evaluating the fit of the models, a reduction in the Akaike's Information Criteria (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criteria (BIC) values was observed after the inclusion of the contextual level variables, indicating an improvement in the fit of the model.

Tabela 4 – Association between characteristics of the context (MHDI) and multimorbidity in elderly residents of Brazilian Federation Units. National Health Survey Brazil. 2019.

	Empty model	Model 1* OR (95%CI)	Model 2** OR (95%CI)	Model 3*** OR (95%CI)
Variable		•	-	-
Individual level				
Sex				
Male			1	1
Female			2,04	2,01
			(1,92-2,16)	(1,89 - 2,13)
Age range (in years)			, ,	, ,
60-69			1	1
70-79			1,24	1,25
			(1,15-1,34)	(1,18-1,33)
≥80				1,14
			(1,32 - 1,50)	(1,05 - 1,25)
Marital status			, ,	, , , ,

Married			1	1
Divorced/single			0,83	0,85
· ·			(0.78 - 0.89)	(0,79-0,91)
Widower			0,95	`
			(0.88 - 1.03)	(0.90 - 1.05)
Education level			,	• • • • • •
No education/incomplete			1	1
primary education				
Complete			0,88	0,86
primary/incomplete			(0.80 - 0.97)	(0.78 - 0.95)
secondary education			, , ,	, , ,
Complete			0,93	0,91
secondary/incomplete				(0.85 - 0.99)
higher education			(-,,	(-,,
Complete higher			0,89	0,88
education				(0.81 - 0.97)
Leisure physical activity			(0,0)	(-,-: -,-: /
Insufficiently active			1	1
Physically active			0,93	0,92
,,			(0.86 - 0.99)	•
Current smoking			(=,==	(-,
No			1	1
Yes			0,73	0,73
			(0,67-0,80)	•
Contextual Level			(0,01 0,00)	(3,33 3,33)
MHDI tertile				
1 (lower)		1		1
2 (middle)		1,07		1,08
(,		(0,94-1,23)		(0.93 - 1.24)
3 (higher)		1,23		1,24
o (g)		(1,06-1,41)		(1,07-1,44)
Variance components		, ,		, , ,
Level 2 variance	0,02	0,02	0,03	0,02
(95%CI)				
`ICC%´	0,007	0,005	0,008	0,006
AIC	29.781,1	•	28.997,29	28.994,35
BIC	29.797,1	29.810,15	29.093,13	29.106,16
Fonte: elaborado nelos autores	•	•	•	•

Fonte: elaborado pelos autores

Legenda: \*Model 1 includes only the contextual level variables;

OR: Odds Ratio; Cl95%: 95% Confidence Interval; AIC: Akaike's Information Criteria; BIC: Bayesian Information Criteria; ICC: Intraclass correlation; MHDI: Municipal Human Development Index

#### 1.4 DISCUSSION

Contextual correlates associated with multimorbidity have not been extensively studied in older adults, especially in low and middle-income countries (Machado et al., 2013; Nunes et al., 2015; Romano et al., 2021). This study revealed

<sup>\*\*</sup> Model 2 includes only the individual level variables (age range, ethnicity, marital status and education level);

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Model 3 includes both contextual and individual variables.

that individual and contextual factors were associated with multimorbidity among elderly living in Brazilian FU. Regarding the contextual factors, higher tertiles of MHDI by the FU were associated with a higher prevalence of multimorbidity.

In the present study, the prevalence of multimorbidity in Brazilian elderly was considerable and follows the average of other low and middle-income countries such as China, India, Ghana, Mexico, Russia, and South Africa (58.4%) (Romano et al., 2021), since about 3 out of 5 individuals of this group present the condition. Compared to the previous edition of the PNS, carried out in 2013, the prevalence (56.5%) showed a slight increase (Andrade et al., 2022).

Concerning individual characteristics, a positive association between multimorbidity and female gender has been identified. The higher prevalence of multimorbidity among females in this study suggests a greater sensitivity among them toward their health condition and can be attributed to their greater demand for health services, resulting in increased exposure to receiving diagnoses for multiple chronic diseases (Pache et al., 2015). According to previous studies that analyzed data from 2019 PNS, 80,6% of Brazilian women had a medical appointment in the 12 months before the interview, against 66,6% among men (Palmeira et al., 2022). Furthermore, according to WHO (2022), compared to women, men are more likely to die prematurely due to NCD, which consequently contributes to a higher prevalence of chronic diseases among women. This finding showed potential gender disparities in healthcare utilization and disease burden (Perelman et al., 2012).

Regarding marital status, divorced and single individuals were less likely to have multimorbidity. Although the mechanism is still poorly understood, it is assumed that it includes cultural assessment and its impact on NCD development and diagnosis. A possible reason for this is that married older adults access more health services due to their partner's encouragement and, for this reason, are more commonly diagnosed (Amiresmaili et al., 2019).

The prevalence of multimorbidity was also related to age increasing. This association meets the biological logic that the human aging process leads to physical, cardiometabolic, and mental changes (Ministério da Saúde Brasil and Secretaria de Atenção à Saúde, 2006). Similar findings related to specific morbidities have been proposed in other population-based studies in Brazil (Guimarães and Andrade, 2020; Szwarcwald et al., 2022).

Regarding health behaviors, physical activity was related to lower odds of multimorbidity, reaffirming the protective character of this practice in respect of biological risk factors for NCD, such as obesity, inflammation, sarcopenia, and decreased cardiorespiratory capacity (Diez Roux, 2003). Contrary to expectations, smokers showed lower odds of presenting the outcome. Significant and inverse associations between smoking and morbidity were also verified in other studies with the Brazilian elderly (Costa et al., 2009; Keomma et al., 2022). The main explanation described is based on the lower life expectancy of this subgroup since active smoking is the main risk factor for mortality from NCD (Oberg et al., 2011). Another partial explanation is that when the diagnosis of an NCD is confirmed, the individual tends to seek the health service more and is encouraged to stop smoking (Costa et al., 2009).

Relating to socioeconomic characteristics at the individual level, both a lower level of education and low income have been associated with multimorbidity. A meta-analysis conducted by Pathirana and Jackson (2018) revealed a 64% increased likelihood of multimorbidity among individuals with lower educational attainment compared to those with higher levels of education. Better socioeconomic indicators are indicative of reduced challenges in identifying health needs, enhanced access to medical services, care, and treatment, as well as greater availability of health-related information. Consequently, individuals with better socioeconomic status are more likely to adopt healthy practices and behaviors. (Magrini and Martini, 2012).

Based on a multilevel analysis, our findings indicated a positive association between residing in FU belonging to the highest tertiles of the MHDI and higher odds of multimorbidity among the elderly population in Brazil. This observation is consistent with previous research that has examined specific NCD (Bento, 2020; Francisco et al., 2018). This result provides further evidence of the relationship between contextual factors, especially socioeconomic characteristics, and multimorbidity. However, it is important to note that the complex nature of this relationship necessitates a comprehensive understanding of the underlying mechanisms.

Several potential explanations can be considered to elucidate the observed association between MHDI and multimorbidity. One plausible explanation is the presence of a survival bias. It is conceivable that individuals residing in areas with higher MHDI scores may have better access to healthcare resources, leading to improved disease management and longer survival rates. Consequently, these individuals would have a greater opportunity to accumulate multiple chronic conditions

over time, thus contributing to the higher prevalence of multimorbidity in these areas (Bento, 2020).

Furthermore, it is essential to acknowledge the multifactorial nature of multimorbidity. The development and progression of multiple chronic conditions are influenced by various individual, social, and environmental factors. Contextual socioeconomic characteristics captured by the MHDI, such as education, income, and living conditions, can shape the health behaviors, access to healthcare, and overall well-being of individuals. Therefore, it is plausible that areas with higher MHDI scores are more likely to exhibit a convergence of factors that increase longevity among older adults, and consequently, as discussed before, the odds of developing multiple chronic conditions (Szwarcwald et al., 2022).

An important additional factor that is interconnected within the relationship between multimorbidity and MHDI is the unequal access to medical diagnostic resources across various contexts in Brazil. This disparity arises from the fact that diagnosis of morbidity relies on ensuring adequate access to healthcare, particularly primary care, and the comprehensive utilization of medical services (Barros et al., 2011). Data from the 2013 PNS conducted in Brazil, show that individuals residing in the Southeast and South regions, which have significantly higher MHDI, exhibited greater rates of healthcare service accessibility in comparison to residents of other regions (Stopa et al., 2017).

Providing appropriate care for elderly people with multimorbidity represent a significant challenge for healthcare systems, especially in middle-income countries that experience fast population aging. In Brazil, despite the presence of a public health system that emphasizes comprehensive care as one of its fundamental principles, with a strong focus on primary healthcare, there remains an observable inclination towards a model centered on medical diagnosis and treatment, rather than primary prevention of illnesses and health promotion. This approach may contribute to the high prevalence of individuals affected by multimorbidity (Rzewuska et al., 2017). Some measures, such as: monitoring areas with more susceptible populations, expansion of primary care policies, and the implementation of preventive programs relative to morbidities, can have a positive impact on quality of life and minimize functional limitations, in addition to minimizing the costs related to repetitive hospitalizations and other complications resulting from multimorbidity.

This study is one of the few conducted in Brazil that investigated the association between multimorbidity and contextual characteristics, represented by the Municipal Human Development Index, in the elderly population, showing significant associations between these factors. These results are important for several reasons: older adults represent the fastest-growing age group, particularly in middle-income countries such as Brazil, and tend to have a higher prevalence of multimorbidity in comparison to younger individuals. Additionally, this target population is more susceptible to the context in which they living.

Some limitations must be considered when interpreting the results of this study. First, the use of a cross-sectional design limits the identification of a causal link between individual and contextual variables and multimorbidity but indicates the magnitude of associations, which may bring new approaches to development of the study area. Second, the use of self-reported measures may overestimate prevalence of the outcome. Also, in this study, the total variance of multimorbidity was not substantially explained by the contextual level, but it is emphasized that there was a statistically significant association between contextual factors and multimorbidity, even after considering individual characteristics.

#### 1.5 CONCLUSIONS

The findings of the present study indicate that both individual and contextual characteristics are significantly associated with multimorbidity among elderly population in Brazil. In terms of contextual factors, the research reveals that older adults residing in areas with higher MHDI were more likely to present multimorbidity. This study opposes the currently prevailing approach focused on older adults with a single noncommunicable disease, which currently dominates the majority of healthcare guidelines in Brazil. The results underscore the tendency of the Brazilian national healthcare system to prioritize a model of attention centered on medical diagnosis and treatment, rather than placing greater emphasis on primary prevention and health promotion. In order to address the healthcare needs of the diverse Brazilian population facing prevalent multimorbidity, several interventions hold potential to positively impact quality of life and mitigate functional limitations. These include the implementation of a preventive programs aimed at specific morbidities, expansion of primary care policies and monitoring regions with higher contextual vulnerability.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Amiresmaili, M., Yazdi-Feyzabadi, V., Heidarijamebozorgi, M., 2019. Health services utilization among slum dwellers: An experience from Iran. J Educ Health Promot 8, 210. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp\_358\_19">https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp\_358\_19</a>
- Andrade, F.B. de, Thumé, E., Facchini, L.A., Torres, J.L., Nunes, B.P., 2022. Education and income-related inequalities in multimorbidity among older Brazilian adults. PLoS ONE 17, e0275985. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275985">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275985</a>
- Barros, M.B. de A., Francisco, P.M.S.B., Lima, M.G., César, C.L.G., 2011. Social inequalities in health among the elderly. Cad. Saúde Pública 27, s198–s208. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-311X2011001400008
- Bento, I.C., 2020. Fatores contextuais e individuais, hipertensão arterial e uso de medicamentos para doenças crônicas entre idosos: Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde (2013) 101. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-549720200078
- Bull, F.C., Al-Ansari, S.S., Biddle, S., Borodulin, K., Buman, M.P., Cardon, G., Carty, C., Chaput, J.-P., Chastin, S., Chou, R., Dempsey, P.C., DiPietro, L., Ekelund, U., Firth, J., Friedenreich, C.M., Garcia, L., Gichu, M., Jago, R., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Lambert, E., Leitzmann, M., Milton, K., Ortega, F.B., Ranasinghe, C., Stamatakis, E., Tiedemann, A., Troiano, R.P., Ploeg, H.P. van der, Wari, V., Willumsen, J.F., 2020. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med 54, 1451–1462. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955
- Camargos, M.C.S., Gonzaga, M.R., Costa, J.V., Bomfim, W.C., 2019. Disability-free life expectancy estimates for Brazil and Major Regions, 1998 and 2013. Ciênc. saúde coletiva 24, 737–747. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232018243.07612017">https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232018243.07612017</a>
- Carvalho, J.N. de, Roncalli, Â.G., Cancela, M. de C., Souza, D.L.B. de, 2017. Prevalence of multimorbidity in the Brazilian adult population according to socioeconomic and

- demographic characteristics. PLoS ONE 12, e0174322. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174322
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022. Preventing Excessive Alcohol Use [WWW Document]. URL <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/prevention.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/prevention.htm</a> (accessed 2.22.23).
- Costa, M.F.F. de L. e, Peixoto, S.V., César, C.C., Malta, D.C., Moura, E.C. de, 2009.

  Health behaviors among older adults with hypertension, Brazil, 2006. Rev. saúde pública 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0034-89102009000900004
- Costa, M.F.L., Facchini, L.A., Matos, D.L., Macinko, J., 2012. Mudanças em dez anos das desigualdades sociais em saúde dos idosos brasileiros (1998-2008). Rev. Saúde Pública 46, 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89102012005000059
- Díaz-Perera, G., Bacallao, J., Alemañy, E., 2013. Contextual and individual influences on diabetes and heart disease in Havana primary care catchment areas. MEDICC Rev 15, 10–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.37757/MR2013V15.N2.3">https://doi.org/10.37757/MR2013V15.N2.3</a>
- Diez Roux, A.V., 2003. Residential environments and cardiovascular risk. J Urban Health 80, 569–589. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jtg065
- France, E.F., Wyke, S., Gunn, J.M., Mair, F.S., McLean, G., Mercer, S.W., 2012.

  Multimorbidity in primary care: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. Br J

  Gen Pract 62, e297-307. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp12X636146">https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp12X636146</a>
- Francisco, P.M.S.B., Segri, N.J., Borim, F.S.A., Malta, D.C., 2018. Prevalência simultânea de hipertensão e diabetes em idosos brasileiros: desigualdades individuais e contextuais. Ciênc. saúde coletiva 23, 3829–3840. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-812320182311.29662016">https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-812320182311.29662016</a>

- Freedman, V.A., Grafova, I.B., Rogowski, J., 2011. Neighborhoods and Chronic Disease

  Onset in Later Life. Am J Public Health 101, 79–86.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.178640">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.178640</a>
- Guimarães, R.M., Andrade, F.C.D., 2020. Healthy life-expectancy and multimorbidity among older adults: Do inequality and poverty matter? Arch Gerontol Geriatr 90, 104157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2020.104157
- Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada, 2022. Pesquisa Nacional por Amostra de Domicílios Contínua, 4º trimestre 2022.
- Jantsch, A.G., Alves, R.F.S., Faerstein, E., 2018. Educational inequality in Rio de Janeiro and its impact on multimorbidity: evidence from the Pró-Saúde study. A cross-sectional analysis. Sao Paulo Med. J. 136, 51–58. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2017.0209100917">https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2017.0209100917</a>
- Keomma, K., Bousquat, A., César, C.L.G., 2022. Prevalence of multimorbidity in older adults in São Paulo, Brazil: a study with ISA-Capital. Rev Saude Publica 56, 69. https://doi.org/10.11606/s1518-8787.2022056004252
- Machado, V. de S.S., Valadares, A.L.R., Costa-Paiva, L.H., Osis, M.J., Sousa, M.H., Pinto-Neto, A.M., 2013. Aging, obesity, and multimorbidity in women 50 years or older: a population-based study. Menopause 20, 818.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.0b013e31827fdd8c">https://doi.org/10.1097/GME.0b013e31827fdd8c</a>
- Magrini, D.W., Martini, J.G., 2012. Hipertensión arterial: principales factores de riesgo modificables en la estrategia salud de la familia. Enfermería Global 11, 344–353. https://doi.org/10.4321/S1695-61412012000200022
- Ministério da Saúde Brasil, Secretaria de Atenção à Saúde, 2006. Cadernos de Atenção Básica, nº 19 Envelhecimento e saúde da pessoa idosa, 1st ed. Brasília, DF.

- Mounce, L.T.A., Campbell, J.L., Henley, W.E., Tejerina Arreal, M.C., Porter, I., Valderas, J.M., 2018. Predicting Incident Multimorbidity. Ann Fam Med 16, 322–329. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2271
- Nunes, B.P., Filho, A.D.P.C., Pati, S., Teixeira, D.S.C., Flores, T.R., Camargo-Figuera, F.A., Munhoz, T.N., Thumé, E., Facchini, L.A., Batista, S.R.R., 2017. Contextual and individual inequalities of multimorbidity in Brazilian adults: a cross-sectional national-based study. BMJ Open 7, e015885. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-015885">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-015885</a>
- Nunes, B.P., Thumé, E., Facchini, L.A., 2015. Multimorbidity in older adults: magnitude and challenges for the Brazilian health system. BMC Public Health 15, 1172. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2505-8
- Oberg, M., Jaakkola, M.S., Woodward, A., Peruga, A., Prüss-Ustün, A., 2011. Worldwide burden of disease from exposure to second-hand smoke: a retrospective analysis of data from 192 countries. Lancet 377, 139–146. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61388-8">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61388-8</a>
- Pabayo, R., Kawachi, I., Gilman, S.E., 2015. US State-level income inequality and risks of heart attack and coronary risk behaviors: longitudinal findings. International journal of public health 60, 573. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-015-0678-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-015-0678-7</a>
- Pache, B., Vollenweider, P., Waeber, G., Marques-Vidal, P., 2015. Prevalence of measured and reported multimorbidity in a representative sample of the Swiss population. BMC Public Health 15, 164. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1515-x">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1515-x</a>
- Palmeira, N.C., Moro, J.P., Getulino, F. de A., Vieira, Y.P., Soares Junior, A. de O., Saes, M. de O., 2022. Analysis of access to health services in Brazil according to sociodemographic profile: National Health Survey, 2019. Epidemiol. Serv. Saúde 31, e2022966. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/S2237-96222022000300013">https://doi.org/10.1590/S2237-96222022000300013</a>

- Pathirana, T.I., Jackson, C.A., 2018. Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health 42, 186–194. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12762">https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12762</a>
- Perelman, J., Fernandes, A., Mateus, C., 2012. Gender disparities in health and healthcare: results from the Portuguese National Health Interview Survey. Cad. Saúde Pública 28, 2339–2348. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-311X2012001400012">https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-311X2012001400012</a>
- Ramos, L.R., Veras, R.P., Kalache, A., 1987. Envelhecimento populacional: uma realidade brasileira. Rev. Saúde Pública 21, 211–224. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89101987000300006">https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89101987000300006</a>
- Romano, E., Ma, R., Vancampfort, D., Firth, J., Felez-Nobrega, M., Haro, J.M., Stubbs, B., Koyanagi, A., 2021. Multimorbidity and obesity in older adults from six low- and middle-income countries. Preventive Medicine 153, 106816.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106816
- Rzewuska, M., de Azevedo-Marques, J.M., Coxon, D., Zanetti, M.L., Zanetti, A.C.G., Franco, L.J., Santos, J.L.F., 2017. Epidemiology of multimorbidity within the Brazilian adult general population: Evidence from the 2013 National Health Survey (PNS 2013). PLoS ONE 12, e0171813. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171813">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171813</a>
- Sallis, J.F., Owen, N., Fisher, E.B., 2008. Ecological models of health behavior, in: Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice, 4th Ed. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA, US, pp. 465–485.
- Santos, S.M., Chor, D., Werneck, G.L., 2010. Demarcation of local neighborhoods to study relations between contextual factors and health. Int J Health Geogr 9, 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-9-34

- Souza-Júnior, P.R.B. de, Freitas, M.P.S. de, Antonaci, G. de A., Szwarcwald, C.L., 2015.

  Desenho da amostra da Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde 2013. Epidemiol. Serv. Saúde 24, 207–216. https://doi.org/10.5123/S1679-49742015000200003
- Stopa, S.R., Malta, D.C., Monteiro, C.N., Szwarcwald, C.L., Goldbaum, M., Cesar, C.L.G., 2017. Use of and access to health services in Brazil, 2013 National Health Survey.

  Rev. Saúde Pública 51. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/s1518-8787.2017051000074">https://doi.org/10.1590/s1518-8787.2017051000074</a>
- Stopa, S.R., Szwarcwald, C.L., Oliveira, M.M. de, Gouvea, E. de C.D.P., Vieira, M.L.F.P., Freitas, M.P.S. de, Sardinha, L.M.V., Macário, E.M., 2020. Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde 2019: histórico, métodos e perspectivas. Epidemiol. Serv. Saúde 29, e2020315. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1679-49742020000500004
- Szwarcwald, C.L., Almeida, W. da S. de, Souza Júnior, P.R.B. de, Rodrigues, J.M., Romero, D.E., 2022. Socio-spatial inequalities in healthy life expectancy in the elderly, Brazil, 2013 and 2019. Cad Saude Publica 38Suppl 1, e00124421. https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-311X00124421
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 2015.

  The World Population Prospects: 2015 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables, ESA/P/WP.241.
- United Nations Development Programme, 2021. Índice de Desenvolvimento Humano Municipal [WWW Document]. Atlas de desenvolvimento humano no Brasil. URL <a href="http://www.atlasbrasil.org.br/consulta/planilha">http://www.atlasbrasil.org.br/consulta/planilha</a> (accessed 2.8.23).
- Victora, C.G., Huttly, S.R., Fuchs, S.C., Olinto, M.T., 1997. The role of conceptual frameworks in epidemiological analysis: a hierarchical approach. Int J Epidemiol 26, 224–227. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/26.1.224
- Violan, C., Foguet-Boreu, Q., Flores-Mateo, G., Salisbury, C., Blom, J., Freitag, M., Glynn, L., Muth, C., Valderas, J.M., 2014. Prevalence, determinants and patterns of

- multimorbidity in primary care: a systematic review of observational studies. PLoS One 9, e102149. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102149
- World Health Organization, 2022. Noncommunicable Diseases Progress Monitor. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- World Health Organization, 2016. Multimorbidity: Technical Series on Safer Primary Care.

  World Health Organization, Geneva.
- World Health Organization, 2015. World report on ageing and health. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Zimmer, Z., Amornsirisomboon, P., 2001. Socioeconomic status and health among older adults in Thailand: an examination using multiple indicators. Soc Sci Med 52, 1297–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(00)00232-x

## 2 CONCLUSÕES E CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

Este estudo se opõe à abordagem predominante focada em idosos com uma única doença não transmissível, que atualmente domina a maioria das diretrizes de saúde no Brasil. Nossos achados demonstram que o sistema de saúde nacional brasileiro apresenta uma tendência para um modelo centrado no diagnóstico médico e tratamento, em vez de priorizar a prevenção primária e a promoção da saúde. A fim de atender às necessidades de saúde da diversa população brasileira que enfrenta uma alta prevalência de multimorbidade, algumas intervenções têm o potencial de influenciar positivamente a qualidade de vida e mitigar limitações funcionais, como: monitorar áreas com maior vulnerabilidade, expandir as políticas de atenção primária e estabelecer programas preventivos direcionados às morbidades específicas.

#### **REFERÊNCIAS**

AMIRESMAILI, M.; YAZDI-FEYZABADI, V.; HEIDARIJAMEBOZORGI, M. Health services utilization among slum dwellers: An experience from Iran. **Journal of Education and Health Promotion**, v. 8, p. 210, 24 out. 2019.

ANDRADE, F. B. DE et al. Education and income-related inequalities in multimorbidity among older Brazilian adults. **PLOS ONE**, v. 17, n. 10, p. e0275985, 13 out. 2022.

BARROS, M. B. DE A. et al. Social inequalities in health among the elderly. **Cadernos de Saúde Pública**, v. 27, n. suppl 2, p. s198–s208, 2011.

BENTO, I. C. Fatores contextuais e individuais, hipertensão arterial e uso de medicamentos para doenças crônicas entre idosos: Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde (2013). p. 101, 2020.

BULL, F. C. et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. **British Journal of Sports Medicine**, v. 54, n. 24, p. 1451–1462, 1 dez. 2020.

CAMARGOS, M. C. S. et al. Disability-free life expectancy estimates for Brazil and Major Regions, 1998 and 2013. **Ciência & Saúde Coletiva**, v. 24, p. 737–747, mar. 2019.

CARVALHO, J. N. DE et al. Prevalence of multimorbidity in the Brazilian adult population according to socioeconomic and demographic characteristics. **PLOS ONE**, v. 12, n. 4, p. e0174322, 6 abr. 2017.

CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. **Preventing Excessive Alcohol Use**. Disponível em: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/prevention.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/prevention.htm</a>>. Acesso em: 22 fev. 2023.

COSTA, M. F. F. DE L. E et al. Health behaviors among older adults with hypertension, Brazil, 2006. **Rev. saúde pública**, p. 18–26, 2009.

COSTA, M. F. L. et al. Mudanças em dez anos das desigualdades sociais em saúde dos idosos brasileiros (1998-2008). **Revista de Saúde Pública**, v. 46, p. 100–107, dez. 2012.

DÍAZ-PERERA, G.; BACALLAO, J.; ALEMAÑY, E. Contextual and individual influences on diabetes and heart disease in Havana primary care catchment areas. **MEDICC review**, v. 15, n. 2, p. 10–15, abr. 2013.

DIEZ ROUX, A. V. Residential environments and cardiovascular risk. **Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine**, v. 80, n. 4, p. 569–589, dez. 2003.

FRANCE, E. F. et al. Multimorbidity in primary care: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. **The British Journal of General Practice: The Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners**, v. 62, n. 597, p. e297-307, abr. 2012.

FRANCISCO, P. M. S. B. et al. Prevalência simultânea de hipertensão e diabetes em idosos brasileiros: desigualdades individuais e contextuais. **Ciência & Saúde Coletiva**, v. 23, n. 11, p. 3829–3840, nov. 2018.

FREEDMAN, V. A.; GRAFOVA, I. B.; ROGOWSKI, J. Neighborhoods and Chronic Disease Onset in Later Life. **American Journal of Public Health**, v. 101, n. 1, p. 79–86, jan. 2011.

GUIMARÃES, R. M.; ANDRADE, F. C. D. Healthy life-expectancy and multimorbidity among older adults: Do inequality and poverty matter? **Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics**, v. 90, p. 104157, 2020.

INSTITUTO DE PESQUISA ECONÔMICA APLICADA. **Pesquisa Nacional por Amostra de Domicílios Contínua, 4º trimestre 2022.** [s.l: s.n.].

JANTSCH, A. G.; ALVES, R. F. S.; FAERSTEIN, E. Educational inequality in Rio de Janeiro and its impact on multimorbidity: evidence from the Pró-Saúde study. A cross-sectional analysis. **Sao Paulo Medical Journal**, v. 136, p. 51–58, 5 mar. 2018.

KEOMMA, K.; BOUSQUAT, A.; CÉSAR, C. L. G. Prevalence of multimorbidity in older adults in São Paulo, Brazil: a study with ISA-Capital. **Revista de Saúde Pública**, v. 56, p. 69, 21 jul. 2022.

MACHADO, V. DE S. S. et al. Aging, obesity, and multimorbidity in women 50 years or older: a population-based study. **Menopause**, v. 20, n. 8, p. 818, ago. 2013.

MAGRINI, D. W.; MARTINI, J. G. Hipertensión arterial: principales factores de riesgo modificables en la estrategia salud de la familia. **Enfermería Global**, v. 11, n. 26, p. 344–353, abr. 2012.

MINISTÉRIO DA SAÚDE BRASIL; SECRETARIA DE ATENÇÃO À SAÚDE. Cadernos de Atenção Básica, nº 19 - Envelhecimento e saúde da pessoa idosa. 1. ed. Brasília, DF: [s.n.].

MOUNCE, L. T. A. et al. Predicting Incident Multimorbidity. **Annals of Family Medicine**, v. 16, n. 4, p. 322–329, jul. 2018.

NUNES, B. P. et al. Contextual and individual inequalities of multimorbidity in Brazilian adults: a cross-sectional national-based study. **BMJ Open**, v. 7, n. 6, p. e015885, 1 jun. 2017.

NUNES, B. P.; THUMÉ, E.; FACCHINI, L. A. Multimorbidity in older adults: magnitude and challenges for the Brazilian health system. **BMC Public Health**, v. 15, n. 1, p. 1172, 25 nov. 2015.

- OBERG, M. et al. Worldwide burden of disease from exposure to second-hand smoke: a retrospective analysis of data from 192 countries. **Lancet (London, England)**, v. 377, n. 9760, p. 139–146, 8 jan. 2011.
- PABAYO, R.; KAWACHI, I.; GILMAN, S. E. US State-level income inequality and risks of heart attack and coronary risk behaviors: longitudinal findings. **International journal of public health**, v. 60, n. 5, p. 573, jul. 2015.
- PACHE, B. et al. Prevalence of measured and reported multimorbidity in a representative sample of the Swiss population. **BMC public health**, v. 15, p. 164, 19 fev. 2015.
- PALMEIRA, N. C. et al. Analysis of access to health services in Brazil according to sociodemographic profile: National Health Survey, 2019. **Epidemiologia e Serviços de Saúde**, v. 31, p. e2022966, 19 dez. 2022.
- PATHIRANA, T. I.; JACKSON, C. A. Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. **Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health**, v. 42, n. 2, p. 186–194, abr. 2018.
- PERELMAN, J.; FERNANDES, A.; MATEUS, C. Gender disparities in health and healthcare: results from the Portuguese National Health Interview Survey. **Cadernos de Saúde Pública**, v. 28, p. 2339–2348, dez. 2012.
- RAMOS, L. R.; VERAS, R. P.; KALACHE, A. Envelhecimento populacional: uma realidade brasileira. **Revista de Saúde Pública**, v. 21, n. 3, p. 211–224, jun. 1987.
- ROMANO, E. et al. Multimorbidity and obesity in older adults from six low- and middle-income countries. **Preventive Medicine**, v. 153, p. 106816, 1 dez. 2021.
- RZEWUSKA, M. et al. Epidemiology of multimorbidity within the Brazilian adult general population: Evidence from the 2013 National Health Survey (PNS 2013). **PLOS ONE**, v. 12, n. 2, p. e0171813, 9 fev. 2017.
- SALLIS, J. F.; OWEN, N.; FISHER, E. B. Ecological models of health behavior. Em: **Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice, 4th ed**. San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass, 2008. p. 465–485.
- SANTOS, S. M.; CHOR, D.; WERNECK, G. L. Demarcation of local neighborhoods to study relations between contextual factors and health. **International Journal of Health Geographics**, v. 9, p. 34, 29 jun. 2010.
- SOUZA-JÚNIOR, P. R. B. DE et al. Desenho da amostra da Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde 2013. **Epidemiologia e Serviços de Saúde**, v. 24, n. 2, p. 207–216, jun. 2015.
- STOPA, S. R. et al. Use of and access to health services in Brazil, 2013 National Health Survey. **Revista de Saúde Pública**, v. 51, n. suppl 1, 2017.

STOPA, S. R. et al. Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde 2019: histórico, métodos e perspectivas. **Epidemiologia e Serviços de Saúde**, v. 29, n. 5, p. e2020315, 2020.

SZWARCWALD, C. L. et al. Socio-spatial inequalities in healthy life expectancy in the elderly, Brazil, 2013 and 2019. **Cadernos De Saude Publica**, v. 38Suppl 1, n. Suppl 1, p. e00124421, 2022.

UNITED NATIONS; DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL AFFAIRS, POPULATION DIVISION. **The World Population Prospects: 2015 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables**. [s.l: s.n.].

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME. **Índice de Desenvolvimento Humano Municipal**. Disponível em:

<a href="http://www.atlasbrasil.org.br/consulta/planilha">http://www.atlasbrasil.org.br/consulta/planilha</a>>. Acesso em: 8 fev. 2023.

VICTORA, C. G. et al. The role of conceptual frameworks in epidemiological analysis: a hierarchical approach. **International Journal of Epidemiology**, v. 26, n. 1, p. 224–227, fev. 1997.

VIOLAN, C. et al. Prevalence, determinants and patterns of multimorbidity in primary care: a systematic review of observational studies. **PloS One**, v. 9, n. 7, p. e102149, 2014.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. **World report on ageing and health**. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2015.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. **Multimorbidity: Technical Series on Safer Primary Care**. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2016.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. **Noncommunicable Diseases Progress Monitor**. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2022.

ZIMMER, Z.; AMORNSIRISOMBOON, P. Socioeconomic status and health among older adults in Thailand: an examination using multiple indicators. **Social Science & Medicine (1982)**, v. 52, n. 8, p. 1297–1311, abr. 2001.

# ANEXO A - NORMAS DA REVISTA HEALTH AND PLACE

As normas da revista Elsevier - Health and Place podem ser acessadas pelo link a seguir: <a href="https://www.elsevier.com/journals/health-and-place/1353-8292/guide-for-authors">https://www.elsevier.com/journals/health-and-place/1353-8292/guide-for-authors</a> ou vistas abaixo.

# **GUIDE FOR AUTHORS**

#### Your Paper Your Way

We now differentiate between the requirements for new and revised submissions. You may choose to submit your manuscript as a single Word or PDF file to be used in the refereeing process. Only when your paper is at the revision stage, will you be requested to put your paper in to a 'correct format' for acceptance and provide the items required for the publication of your article.

To find out more, please visit the Preparation section below.

#### INTRODUCTION

The journal is an interdisciplinary journal dedicated to the study of all aspects of health and health care in which place or location matters.

Recent years have seen closer links evolving between medical geography, medical sociology, health policy, public health and epidemiology. The journal reflects these convergences, which emphasise differences in health and health care between places, the experience of health and care in specific places, the development of health care for places, and the methodologies and theories underpinning the study of these issues.

The journal brings together international contributors from geography, sociology, social policy and public health. It offers readers comparative perspectives on the difference that place makes to the incidence of ill-health, the structuring of health-related behaviour, the provision and use of health services, and the development of health policy.

At a time when health matters are the subject of ever-increasing attention, Health & Place provides accessible and readable papers summarizing developments and reporting the latest research findings.

# Types of paper

Articles should normally be 4000-6000 words long (excluding figures, tables and references), although articles longer than 6000 words will be accepted on an occasional basis, if the topic demands this length of treatment. Authors are responsible for ensuring that all manuscripts (whether original or revised) are accurately typed before final submission. Manuscripts will be returned to the author with a set of instructions if they are not submitted according to our style.

The Short Communication section allows authors to submit material which might not be appropriate for full-length articles but is worthy of publication. It may report work-in-progress or elements of larger projects (1000-2000 words).

The Opinion Paper section exists for the expression of opinion and as a forum for debate (1000-2000 words).

Review articles may provide scholarly assessments of new policies or practices, or academic overviews of new areas of study (5000-6000 words).

# Special issue policy

Our policy on special issues is that we will not do complete special issues, rather we will consider special sections of 4-10 papers. Specials need to be proposed to the Editor in Chief and will be evaluated by Assistant Editors and one or more Board Members and/or external advisors. Proposals should normally include abstracts and must include a clearly argued case for the special. Exceptionally we will consider specials based around a call-for-papers. Evaulation will focus on the coherence, topicality and market for the special. We expect specials to pursue an agenda and to be introduced by an agenda-setting paper, which could take the form of a guest editorial. All papers in specials, including the lead paper should be submitted in the normal way and will undergo normal peer review. We anticipate one special per year.

# Contact details for submission

Health & Place has an online submission system with the aim of improving our editorial procedure for authors, reviewers and the editor. The website address is: https://www.editorialmanager.com/JHAP/default.aspx.

If this is your first time using the system you will need to go to the above page and register as a new author by clicking the 'Register' link. Once registered you may then submit your paper by clicking 'Submit New Manuscript' and following the instructions. All correspondence between the editor and authors will be performed by e-mail and paper copies will not be required at the original submission

# Review Policy

Please note that the journal has adopted a double blind reviewing policy, so authors should use separate pages for all identifying information (name, affiliation etc.). Replace all references to the author in the main paper with "Author, 2003", "Author et al, 2006", etc. In the reference list, use the format "Author 2003 [details removed for peer review]". Papers that have not had all such features removed will be returned without review to the author for alteration. Reviewer's names will not be made available to authors under any circumstances.

#### BEFORE YOU BEGIN

# Ethics in publishing

Please see our information on Ethics in publishing.

#### Declaration of interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential competing interests include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/registrations, and grants or other funding. Authors must disclose any interests in two places: 1. A summary declaration of interest statement in the title page file (if double anonymized) or the manuscript file (if single anonymized). If there are no interests to declare then please state this: 'Declarations of interest: none'. 2. Detailed disclosures as part of a separate Declaration of Interest form, which forms part of the journal's official records. It is important for potential interests to be declared in both places and that the information matches. More information.

**Declaration of generative AI in scientific writing**The below guidance only refers to the writing process, and not to the use of AI tools to analyse and draw insights from data as part of the research process.

Where authors use generative artificial intelligence (AI) and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process, authors should only use these technologies to improve readability and language. Applying the technology should be done with human oversight and control, and authors should carefully review and edit the result, as AI can generate authoritative-sounding output that can be incorrect, incomplete or biased. AI and AI-assisted technologies should not be listed as an author or co-author, or be cited as an author. Authorship implies responsibilities and tasks that can only be attributed to and performed by humans, as outlined in Elsevier's AI policy for authors.

Authors should disclose in their manuscript the use of AI and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process by following the instructions below. A statement will appear in the published work. Please note that authors are ultimately responsible and accountable for the contents of the work.

# Disclosure instructions

Authors must disclose the use of generative AI and AI-assisted technologies in the writing process by adding a statement at the end of their manuscript in the core manuscript file, before the References list. The statement should be placed in a new section entitled 'Declaration of Generative AI and AIassisted technologies in the writing process'.

Statement: During the preparation of this work the author(s) used [NAME TOOL / SERVICE] in order to [REASON]. After using this tool/service, the author(s) reviewed and edited the content as needed and take(s) full responsibility for the content of the publication.

This declaration does not apply to the use of basic tools for checking grammar, spelling, references etc. If there is nothing to disclose, there is no need to add a statement.

# Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that

its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyrightholder. To verify compliance, your article may be checked by Crossref Similarity Check and other originality or duplicate checking software.

#### Preprints

Please note that preprints can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's sharing policy. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information).

### Use of inclusive language

Inclusive language acknowledges diversity, conveys respect to all people, is sensitive to differences, and promotes equal opportunities. Content should make no assumptions about the beliefs or commitments of any reader; contain nothing which might imply that one individual is superior to another on the grounds of age, gender, race, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation, disability or health condition; and use inclusive language throughout. Authors should ensure that writing is free from bias, stereotypes, slang, reference to dominant culture and/or cultural assumptions. We advise to seek gender neutrality by using plural nouns ("clinicians, patients/clients") as default/wherever possible to avoid using "he, she," or "he/she." We recommend avoiding the use of descriptors that refer to personal attributes such as age, gender, race, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation, disability or health condition unless they are relevant and valid. When coding terminology is used, we recommend to avoid offensive or exclusionary terms such as "master", "slave", "blacklist" and "whitelist". We suggest using alternatives that are more appropriate and (self-) explanatory such as "primary", "secondary", "blocklist" and "allowlist". These guidelines are meant as a point of reference to help identify appropriate language but are by no means exhaustive or definitive.

# Reporting sex- and gender-based analyses Reporting guidance

For research involving or pertaining to humans, animals or eukaryotic cells, investigators should integrate sex and gender-based analyses (SGBA) into their research design according to funder/ sponsor requirements and best practices within a field. Authors should address the sex and/or gender dimensions of their research in their article. In cases where they cannot, they should discuss this as a limitation to their research's generalizability. Importantly, authors should explicitly state what definitions of sex and/or gender they are applying to enhance the precision, rigor and reproducibility of their research and to avoid ambiguity or conflation of terms and the constructs to which they refer (see Definitions section below). Authors can refer to the Sex and Gender Equity in Research (SAGER) guidelines and the SAGER guidelines checklist. These offer systematic approaches to the use and editorial review of sex and gender information in study design, data analysis, outcome reporting and research interpretation - however, please note there is no single, universally agreed-upon set of guidelines for defining sex and gender.

# Definitions

Sex generally refers to a set of biological attributes that are associated with physical and physiological features (e.g., chromosomal genotype, hormonal levels, internal and external anatomy). A binary sex categorization (male/female) is usually designated at birth ("sex assigned at birth"), most often based solely on the visible external anatomy of a newborn. Gender generally refers to socially constructed roles, behaviors, and identities of women, men and gender-diverse people that occur in a historical and cultural context and may vary across societies and over time. Gender influences how people view themselves and each other, how they behave and interact and how power is distributed in society. Sex and gender are often incorrectly portrayed as binary (female/male or woman/man) and unchanging whereas these constructs actually exist along a spectrum and include additional sex categorizations and gender identities such as people who are intersex/have differences of sex development (DSD) or identify as non-binary. Moreover, the terms "sex" and "gender" can be ambiguous—thus it is important for authors to define the manner in which they are used. In addition to this definition guidance and the SAGER guidelines, the resources on this page offer further insight around sex and gender in research studies.

# Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors before submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only

**before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors after the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

# Article transfer service

This journal uses the Elsevier Article Transfer Service to find the best home for your manuscript. This means that if an editor feels your manuscript is more suitable for an alternative journal, you might be asked to consider transferring the manuscript to such a journal. The recommendation might be provided by a Journal Editor, a dedicated Scientific Managing Editor, a tool assisted recommendation, or a combination. If you agree, your manuscript will be transferred, though you will have the opportunity to make changes to the manuscript before the submission is complete. Please note that your manuscript will be independently reviewed by the new journal. More information.

#### Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see more information on this). An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has preprinted forms for use by authors in these cases.

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'License Agreement' (more information). Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of user license.

#### **Author rights**

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. More information.

Elsevier supports responsible sharing

Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

# Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement, it is recommended to state this.

# Open access

Please visit our Open Access page for more information.

# Elsevier Researcher Academy

Researcher Academy is a free e-learning platform designed to support early and mid-career researchers throughout their research journey. The "Learn" environment at Researcher Academy offers several interactive modules, webinars, downloadable guides and resources to guide you through the process of writing for research and going through peer review. Feel free to use these free resources to improve your submission and navigate the publication process with ease.

### Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the English Language Editing service available from Elsevier's Author Services.

#### PREPARATION

#### **Oueries**

For questions about the editorial process (including the status of manuscripts under review) or for technical support on submissions, please visit our Support Center.

#### NEW SUBMISSIONS

Submission to this journal proceeds totally online and you will be guided stepwise through the creation and uploading of your files. The system automatically converts your files to a single PDF file, which is used in the peer-review process.

As part of the Your Paper Your Way service, you may choose to submit your manuscript as a single file to be used in the refereeing process. This can be a PDF file or a Word document, in any format or layout that can be used by referees to evaluate your manuscript. It should contain high enough quality figures for refereeing. If you prefer to do so, you may still provide all or some of the source files at the initial submission. Please note that individual figure files larger than 10 MB must be uploaded separately.

#### References

There are no strict requirements on reference formatting at submission. References can be in any style or format as long as the style is consistent. Where applicable, author(s) name(s), journal title/book title, chapter title/article title, year of publication, volume number/book chapter and the article number or pagination must be present. Use of DOI is highly encouraged. The reference style used by the journal will be applied to the accepted article by Elsevier at the proof stage. Note that missing data will be highlighted at proof stage for the author to correct.

#### Formatting requirements

There are no strict formatting requirements but all manuscripts must contain the essential elements needed to convey your manuscript, for example Abstract, Keywords, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Conclusions, Artwork and Tables with Captions.

If your article includes any Videos and/or other Supplementary material, this should be included in your initial submission for peer review purposes.

Divide the article into clearly defined sections.

#### Figures and tables embedded in text

Please ensure the figures and the tables included in the single file are placed next to the relevant text in the manuscript, rather than at the bottom or the top of the file. The corresponding caption should be placed directly below the figure or table.

# Peer review

This journal operates a double anonymized review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision regarding acceptance or rejection of articles. The Editor's decision is final. Editors are not involved in decisions about papers which they have written themselves or have been written by family members or colleagues or which relate to products or services in which the editor has an interest. Any such submission is subject to all of the journal's usual procedures, with peer review handled independently of the relevant editor and their research groups. More information on types of peer review.

# Double anonymized review

This journal uses double anonymized review, which means the identities of the authors are concealed from the reviewers, and vice versa. More information is available on our website. To facilitate this, please include the following separately:

Title page (with author details): This should include the title, authors' names, affiliations, acknowledgements and any Declaration of Interest statement, and a complete address for the corresponding author including an e-mail address.

Anonymized manuscript (no author details): The main body of the paper (including the references, figures, tables and any acknowledgements) should not include any identifying information, such as the authors' names or affiliations.

#### REVISED SUBMISSIONS

Use of word processing software

Regardless of the file format of the original submission, at revision you must provide us with an editable file of the entire article. Keep the layout of the text as simple as possible. Most formatting codes will be removed and replaced on processing the article. The electronic text should be prepared in a way very similar to that of conventional manuscripts (see also the Guide to Publishing with Elsevier). See also the section on Electronic artwork.

To avoid unnecessary errors you are strongly advised to use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your word processor.

#### LaTeX

You are recommended to use the latest Elsevier article class to prepare your manuscript and BibTeX to generate your bibliography.

Our Guidelines has full details.

# Article structure

# Essential title page information

- Title. Concise and informative. Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.
- Author names and affiliations. Please clearly indicate the given name(s) and family name(s) of each author and check that all names are accurately spelled. You can add your name between parentheses in your own script behind the English transliteration. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lowercase superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the e-mail address of each author.
- Corresponding author. Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing
  and publication, also post-publication. This responsibility includes answering any future queries about
  Methodology and Materials. Ensure that the e-mail address is given and that contact details
  are kept up to date by the corresponding author.
- Present/permanent address. If an author has moved since the work described in the article was
  done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated as
  a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did the work must be
  retained as the main, affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for such footnotes.

# Optimizing the title and abstract of an article for your audience

In order to increase the exposure of your article, we suggest the following:

- The title of your article must be clear and descriptive, using keywords that are relevant to the subject area, and would most likely be used in an online search.
- •The abstract must also contain keywords and common phrases for the subject area, perhaps using wording from the title. These carefully chosen keywords and phrases can also be emphasised in the text, however please do this with caution as some search engines can reject overly repetitive webpages.

# Highlights

Highlights are mandatory for this journal as they help increase the discoverability of your article via search engines. They consist of a short collection of bullet points that capture the novel results of your research as well as new methods that were used during the study (if any). Please have a look at the examples here: example Highlights.

Highlights should be submitted in a separate editable file in the online submission system. Please use 'Highlights' in the file name and include 3 to 5 bullet points (maximum 85 characters, including spaces, per bullet point).

# Abstract

A concise and factual abstract of about 100 words is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if essential, then cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided, but if essential they must be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

# Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 6 keywords, using American spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, 'and', 'of'). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes.

# Formatting of funding sources

List funding sources in this standard way to facilitate compliance to funder's requirements:

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health [grant numbers xxxx, yyyy]; the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA [grant number zzzz]; and the United States Institutes of Peace [grant number aaaa].

It is not necessary to include detailed descriptions on the program or type of grants and awards. When funding is from a block grant or other resources available to a university, college, or other research institution, submit the name of the institute or organization that provided the funding.

If no funding has been provided for the research, it is recommended to include the following sentence:

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

#### Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Should this not be the case, indicate the position of footnotes in the text and present the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article.

#### Artwork

#### Electronic artwork

General points

- · Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.
- · Preferred fonts: Arial (or Helvetica), Times New Roman (or Times), Symbol, Courier.
- · Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.
- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
   Indicate per figure if it is a single, 1.5 or 2-column fitting image.
- For Word submissions only, you may still provide figures and their captions, and tables within a single file at the revision stage.
- Please note that individual figure files larger than 10 MB must be provided in separate source files.

A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available.

#### You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here. Formats

Regardless of the application used, when your electronic artwork is finalized, please 'save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below):

EPS (or PDF): Vector drawings. Embed the font or save the text as 'graphics'.

TIFF (or JPG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones): always use a minimum of 300 dpi.

TIFF (or JPG): Bitmapped line drawings: use a minimum of 1000 dpi.
TIFF (or JPG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale): a minimum of 500 dpi is required.

# Please do not:

- · Supply files that are optimized for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); the resolution is too low.
- · Supply files that are too low in resolution.
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

#### Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF) or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) in addition to color reproduction in print. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

#### Figure captions

Ensure that each illustration has a caption. A caption should comprise a brief title (**not** on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

#### Tables

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

#### References

#### Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Any references cited in the abstract must be given in full. Unpublished results and personal communications are not recommended in the reference list, but may be mentioned in the text. If these references are included in the reference list they should follow the standard reference style of the journal and should include a substitution of the publication date with either 'Unpublished results' or 'Personal communication'. Citation of a reference as 'in press' implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

# Reference links

Increased discoverability of research and high quality peer review are ensured by online links to the sources cited. In order to allow us to create links to abstracting and indexing services, such as Scopus, Crossref and PubMed, please ensure that data provided in the references are correct. Please note that incorrect surnames, journal/book titles, publication year and pagination may prevent link creation. When copying references, please be careful as they may already contain errors. Use of the DOI is highly encouraged.

A DOI is guaranteed never to change, so you can use it as a permanent link to any electronic article. An example of a citation using DOI for an article not yet in an issue is: VanDecar J.C., Russo R.M., James D.E., Ambeh W.B., Franke M. (2003). Aseismic continuation of the Lesser Antilles slab beneath northeastern Venezuela. Journal of Geophysical Research, https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JB000884. Please note the format of such citations should be in the same style as all other references in the paper.

# Web references

As a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates, reference to a source publication, etc.), should also be given. Web references can be listed separately (e.g., after the reference list) under a different heading if desired, or can be included in the reference list.

# Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

# Preprint references

Where a preprint has subsequently become available as a peer-reviewed publication, the formal publication should be used as the reference. If there are preprints that are central to your work or that cover crucial developments in the topic, but are not yet formally published, these may be referenced. Preprints should be clearly marked as such, for example by including the word preprint, or the name of the preprint server, as part of the reference. The preprint DOI should also be provided.

### References in a special issue

Please ensure that the words 'this issue' are added to any references in the list (and any citations in the text) to other articles in the same Special Issue.

#### Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley. Using citation plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide. If you use reference management software, please ensure that you remove all field codes before submitting the electronic manuscript. More information on how to remove field codes from different reference management software.

#### Reference formatting

There are no strict requirements on reference formatting at submission. References can be in any style or format as long as the style is consistent. Where applicable, author(s) name(s), journal title/book title, chapter title/article title, year of publication, volume number/book chapter and the article number or pagination must be present. Use of DOI is highly encouraged. The reference style used by the journal will be applied to the accepted article by Elsevier at the proof stage. Note that missing data will be highlighted at proof stage for the author to correct. If you do wish to format the references yourself they should be arranged according to the following examples:

### Reference Style

For Health & Place the Harvard system is to be used: authors' names (no initials) and dates (and specific pages, only in the case of quotations) are given in the main body of the text, e.g. (Phillips, 1990, p, 40). References are listed alphabetically at the end of the paper, double spaced and conform to current journal style:

For journals: Macintyre, S., MacIver, S., Sooman, A., 1993. Area, class and health: should we be focusing on places or people? Journal of Social Policy 22, 213-234.

For books: Jones, K., Moon, G., 1987, Health, Disease and Society, RKP, London,

For Chapters of edited Books: Laws, G., Dear, M., 1988. Coping in the community: a review of factors and influencing the lives of deinstitutionalized ex-psychiatric patients. In: Smith, C., Giggs, J. (Eds), Location and Stigma. Unwin Hyman, London, pp. 83-102.

Other publications: Where there is doubt include bibliographical details.

#### Video

Elsevier accepts video material and animation sequences to support and enhance your scientific research. Authors who have video or animation files that they wish to submit with their article are strongly encouraged to include links to these within the body of the article. This can be done in the same way as a figure or table by referring to the video or animation content and noting in the body text where it should be placed. All submitted files should be properly labeled so that they directly relate to the video file's content. In order to ensure that your video or animation material is directly usable, please provide the file in one of our recommended file formats with a preferred maximum size of 150 MB per file, 1 GB in total. Video and animation files supplied will be published online in the electronic version of your article in Elsevier Web products, including ScienceDirect. Please supply 'stills' with your files; you can choose any frame from the video or animation or make a separate image. These will be used instead of standard icons and will personalize the link to your video data. For more detailed instructions please visit our video instruction pages. Note: since video and animation cannot be embedded in the print version of the journal, please provide text for both the electronic and the print version for the portions of the article that refer to this content.

# Data visualization

Include interactive data visualizations in your publication and let your readers interact and engage more closely with your research. Follow the instructions here to find out about available data visualization options and how to include them with your article.

#### Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

#### Research data

This journal encourages and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. If you are sharing data in one of these ways, you are encouraged to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the research data page.

#### Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the database linking page.

For supported data repositories a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect.

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e.g., TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

#### Research Elements

This journal enables you to publish research objects related to your original research – such as data, methods, protocols, software and hardware – as an additional paper in a Research Elements journal.

Research Elements is a suite of peer-reviewed, open access journals which make your research objects findable, accessible and reusable. Articles place research objects into context by providing detailed descriptions of objects and their application, and linking to the associated original research articles. Research Elements articles can be prepared by you, or by one of your collaborators.

During submission, you will be alerted to the opportunity to prepare and submit a manuscript to one of the Research Elements journals.

More information can be found on the Research Elements page.

# Data statement

To foster transparency, we require you to state the availability of your data in your submission if your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post. This may also be a requirement of your funding body or institution. You will have the opportunity to provide a data statement during the submission process. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the Data Statement page..

# Checklist

· Have you told readers, at the outset, what they might gain by reading your paper?

- · Have you made the aim of your work clear?
- · Have you explained the significance of your contribution?
- Have you set your work in the appropriate context by giving sufficient background (including a complete set of relevant references) to your work?
- · Have you addressed the question of practicality and usefulness?
- . Have you identified future developments that may result from you work?
- · Have you structured you papers in a clear and logical fashion?
- · Have you provided an abstract and keywords?

#### Submission checklist

The following list will be useful during the final checking of an article prior to sending it to the journal for review. Please consult this Guide for Authors for further details of any item. Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details: E-mail address Full postal address All necessary files have been uploaded, and contain: Keywords All figure captions All tables (including title, description, footnotes) Further considerations Manuscript has been 'spell-checked' and 'grammar-checked' Files submitted for review have had all identifying information removed (see review policy above), whether in the file text, the file name or the file properties. All references mentioned in the Reference list are cited in the text, and vice versa Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

Printed version of figures (if applicable) in color or black-and-white Indicate clearly whether or not color or black-and-white in print is required.

For any further information please visit our Support Center"

#### AFTER ACCEPTANCE

# Online proof correction

To ensure a fast publication process of the article, we kindly ask authors to provide us with their proof corrections within two days. Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version. All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

# Offprints

The corresponding author will, at no cost, receive a customized Share Link providing 50 days free access to the final published version of the article on ScienceDirect. The Share Link can be used for sharing the article via any communication channel, including email and social media. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is

accepted for publication. Corresponding authors who have published their article gold open access do not receive a Share Link as their final published version of the article is available open access on ScienceDirect and can be shared through the article DOI link.

# **AUTHOR INQUIRIES**

Visit the Elsevier Support Center to find the answers you need. Here you will find everything from Frequently Asked Questions to ways to get in touch.

You can also check the status of your submitted article or find out when your accepted article will be published.

© Copyright 2018 Elsevier | https://www.elsevier.com